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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

DANIEL MOORE,

Plaintiff,
18-CV-496 (JPO)
_V_
OPINION AND ORDER

CITY OF NEW YORK NYC HEALTH
+ HOSPITAL, CAPTAIN AYANNA
ROBERTSON, C.O. WILIAMS, C.O.
DIAS, C.0. JAMES, . MORRIS,C.O.
RAYSOR, WARDEN CAROLYN
SAUNDERS, DEPUTY WARDEN
DELIA VAZ, andNATASHA FRAZIER,
Defendang.

J. PAUL OETKEN, District Judge:

Plaintiff Daniel Moore brings this actigero seagainst the City of New York (“the
City”) and NYC Health + Hospital (“H&H"), along with a group of nine individuals
(collectively, “Defendants”) Moorealleges that Defendants were deliberately indiffereis
medical needs, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. (Dkt. No. 26 at 2, 11.) Defendants
now move to dismiss the operative complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedur® 1 b)(
failure to state a claim upon which relief can be gran(Bdt. No. 39.} For the reasons that

follow, Defendants’ motion igranted

! Although the individual Defendants have not yet appeared or responded to the

Complaint, theCity and H&H represent thatlfe arguments in [the memorandum supporting
dismissal] address the claims made against them,” and request that “anyaaelied go the City
and H&H be extended to the Individual Defendants.” (Dkt. No. 40 at 1 n.2.) Thedeems

this statement sufficient to put Moore on notice that the pending motion could result in the
dismissal of his claims against all Defendants under Rule 12(I§6¥srant v. Cty. of Erigb42

F. App’x 21, 24 (2d Cir. 2013) [A] district court mg dismissan actiorsua spontédor failure to
state a claim so long as the plaintiff is given notice of the grounds for didmssan

opportunity to be heard.”)And Moore was given, and took advantage of, the opportunity to be
heard in response to the potential dismissal of his claims. (Dkt. No. 44.)
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Background

The following facts are drawn from the operative complaint, as well agpfhesition to
themotionto dismiss, and are presumed true for the purpose of this m@mekeelings v.
StukesNo. 15 Civ. 1889, 2016 WL 299320&t *1 (S.D.N.Y. May 23, 2016) (noting that, under
the “duty to liberally construpro sepleadings,” courts may credit allegations appearirgyan
seopposition papers).

Plaintiff Daniel Moore isan inmate at the Five Point Correctional Facility in Romulus,
New York. (Dkt. No. 46.) Moore suffers from medical issues involving his heart, and due to the
fact that his left leg contains a metal rod and screws and is shorter than Hesgigtidkt. No.
26 (“Compl.”) at 7-8.) During Moore’s pretrial detention at the Otis Bantum Gmmnet
Center {OBCC’) on Rikers Island, Moore alleges that his constitutional and statutory rights
were violated in connection with the failure to provide him adequatiical assistance.

(Compl. at 2, 7-11seeDkt. No. 40 at 5 n.4%)

2 Along with his affidavit opposing the motion to dismiss (Dkt. No. 44 at 1-2)—
which the Court construes as an opposition brief—Moore also submits an affidavit from John
Hyde, another detainee at OBCCk{DNo. 44 at 3). The Court declines to consider the Hyde
affidavit in deciding Defendants’ motion.

If “matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court” on a
Rule 12(b)(6) motion, “the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56”
and “[a]ll parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to present albtieeal that is
pertinent to the motion.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d). “However, if extrinsic evidence submitted on
amotionto dismissis deemed part of éhpleadings, it may be considered in deciding the
motion.” DeLuca v. AccessIT Grp., In&95 F. Supp. 2d 54, 59 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

The Hyde affidavit was not “(1) attached to the complaint; (2) incorporated into the
complaint by reference; or (3) integral to the complaint,at 60, and thus the Court does not
treat it as part of the pleadings in deciding this motion to dismiss. Furthermoreuttie Co
“declines to convert the instant motion into one for summary judgment since discoseytha
yet comnenced.” Id. at 61.

3 The Complaint does not specify Moore’s status at the time of the events alleged,
though Defendants allege tibore was a pretrial detainee at the time in question, according to
publicly available state records. (Dkt. No. 40 at 5 n.4.) Moore does not contest thisragser



On June 30, 2017, Moore arrived at OBCC, which is managed by the New York City
Department of Correction. (Compl. at 7.) Soon thereafter, Moore was seen by thal statfic
at OBCC, wio are employed by H&H.Id.) The medical staff noted the problems with Moore’s
leg and issued Moore a permit for a walking cand.) (On August 11, 2017, MoGdegecane was
allegedlytaken from him without explanation, and not returned until November 17, 2017.
(Compl. at 7-8, 14.)

Also at Moore’s initial visit withthe medical staff, they indicated that Moore would be
given a “shoe lift,” also known aorthopedic sho@sert to treat the issues with his left leg.
(Compl. at 7seeDkt. No. 40 at 1.) Moore alleges, however, that despite complaining about “the
pain in [his] legs and lower back” to the medical staff, it took “almost a whot& fgaahim to
be given a pair ofustom orthopedic shoes, which he finally received on June 19, 2018. (Compl.
at 7, 11; Dkt. No. 44 at 4.) The delay in obtaining the custom orthopedic shoes, Moore asserts, is
due to the failure of Natasha Frazetthe Assistant Coordinator of H&Hte-actively supervise
staff at OBCC. (Compl. at 8.)

Finally, Moore alleges thdhere have been issues with the administration of his heart
medication. (Compl. at &eCompl. at 20-23.) According to Moore, the normal procedure for
the administration of medication at OBCC involvesdbgectional officerproducing inmates
to themedical staff for treatment, or escortitige medical staff to detention units where

treatment is required. (Compl. at8) Moore alleges, however, that the correctional officers

his opposition papers.SéeDkt. No. 44.) Therefore, he Court takes judicial notice of the fact of
Moore’s status as a grial detainee at the time of the relevant events, consistent with accepted
practicein this District. See, e.g.Taylor v. City of New YoriNo. 16 Civ. 7857, 2018 WL
1737626, at *11 n.10 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 27, 2018jomas v. Westchester Ctyo. 12 Civ. 6718,
2013 WL 3357171, at *3 n.9 (S.D.N.Y. July 3, 2013).

4 Although her last name is spelled on the Docket as “Frazier,” the Court will use
the spelling “Frazer,” consistent with the Defendants’ brief.



assigned to the medical clinic at OBESOfficers Dias, James, Raysor, M@riand Williams—

as well as their area supervisor, Captain Robertadad to call Moore to receive his medication
and failed to otherwise insure that the required procedures were employed fort®/emreive

his medication in a timely manner. (Compl9g Furthermore, Moore alleges tiia medical
staff have been “falsifying medical documentation with regards to the timénisjatedication

is actually given to [him],” again due to the inadequate supervision of Frazemp(Cat 8.)

The deniabf Moore’s heart medication is alleged to have occurred “in excess of 10 times.”
(Dkt. No. 44 at 1.) In addition, Moore alleges that the heart medication was taken from him
during an institutional searan October 24, 2017, and never returned. (Compl. at 8, 16.)

Moore filed a grievance complaint on November 17, 2017, in connection with the
missing walking cane and promised orthopedic insert. (Compl. at 10, 13.) And Moore further
alleges that he has “filed various grievances to address the negligence” ofélctaws officers
and medical staff. (Dkt. No. 44 at 1.) But according to Moore, Captain Ayanna Robertson and
the officer in charge of the medical clinic areBeputy Warden of Programs Delia Vafailed
to investigate his complaint or even respond to Moore. (Compl. at 10.) Nor did the Warden of
OBCC at the time-Warden Carolyn Saunders—respond to the grievance complaint or remedy
the failures of the medical staff and correctional officeld.) (

Moore initiated this actiopro seon January 18, 2018 (Dkt. No. 2), and filed the
operative fifth amended complaint (“Complaint”) on September 19, 2018 (Dkt. No. 26). The
Complaint names as Defendants the City; H&H; Warden Saunders; Deputy Wazien V
CaptainRobertsonCorrections Officers Diagames, Raysor, Morris, and Williams; and the
Assistant Coordinator of H&H, Frazer. (Compl. at 4—-6.) Moore asserts violations of his

Fourteenth Amendment rights and statutory rights under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 6010, and seeks damages



from Defendants. (Compl. at 2, 11.) On November 21, 2018, the City and H&H moved to
dismiss the Complaint in its entirety under Rule 12(b)(6). (Dkt. No. 39.) In respdose
submitted an affidavit, which the Court construes bged in opposition to dismissal (Dkt. No.
44), and the motion is now ready for resolution.

. Legal Standard

In order to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a plaintiff must plead snfficie
factual allegations “to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fa&l"Atlantic Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). A claim is facially plausible “when the plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference thetetheaaht is liable
for the misconduct alleged Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). The Court must
accept as true all welleaded factual allegations in the complaint and “draw]] all inferences in
the plaintiff's favor.” Allaire Corp. v. Okumys433 F.3d 248, 249-50 (2d Cir. 2006) (citation
omitted).

Moreover, courts must affoqgto seplaintiffs “special solicitude” before granting
motions to dismissWilliams v. Corr. OfficelPriatno, 829 F.3d 118, 122 (2d Cir. 2016A
document filedoro seis ‘to be liberally construedand ‘apro secomplaint, however inartfully
pleaded, must be held to less stringent standards than formal pleadings dradtegeny.1
Erickson v. Pardysb51 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (quotikgptelle v. Gamble429 U.S. 97, 106
(1976)). Therefore, courts interprepm@ seplaintiff’'s pleadings “toraise the strongest
arguments they suggestTriestman v. Fed. Bureau of Prisods0 F.3d 471, 475 (2d Cir. 2006)
(citation omitted). “Even in pro secase, however, ‘although a court must accept as true all of
the allegations contained in a complaint, that tenet is inapplicable to legalsions| and

threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by marsocgnc



statements, do not suffice.Chavis v. Chappiy$18 F.3d 162, 170 (2d Cir. 2010) (quoting
Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009)).
IIl.  Discussion

Defendants raise four arguments in support of their motion to dismiss, involving:
(1) exhaustion; (2) the merits bfoore’s constitutional claims;(3) the personal involvement of
individual Defendantsand (4) muniipal liability. Although exhaustion is not a proper ground
for dismissal of the claims at this stage in the litigation, dismissal is nonethelegsragb@mn
the merits.

A. Exhaustion

As a defense to all clainesserted by Moore, Defendants argue liediailed toproperly
exhaust his administrative remedies, as required by the Prison LitigafiamRéct (“the
PLRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(a). (Dkt. No. 40 at 11-15.)

However,“failure to exhaust is an affirmative defense undeRhRA, and . . . inmates
are not required to specially plead or demonstrate exhaustion in their complaartes' v.
Bock 549 U.S. 199, 216 (2007Y.herefore,[t|he only circumstance in which & appropriate

to dismiss a complaint on nonexhaustion grounds is when it is apparent from the face of the

5 In addition to his Fourteenth Amendment rights, Moore bri@fims violations

of his “rights under 42 U.S.C.A. 8§ 6010, Developmentally Disabled Assistance & Bilbbfs
Act of 1975.” (Compl. at 2.) But Moore does not say anything else about these asserted
statutory rights—or how they are implicated by the facts alleged his Complaint or opposition
affidavit. (SeeDkt. Nos. 26, 44.) Nor do Defendants mention these statutory rights in their
brief. (SeeDkt. 40.)

The statutenvokedhas been amended multiple times, such that the specific codified
provision under which Moore seeks to bring a claim—42 U.S.C. § 6010—is no longer in effect.
Furthermore, the Supreme Court has previously held that this statutory provision “didatet
rights enforceable under § 1983Wilder v.Va. Hosp. Ass'’n496 U.S. 498, 510 (1990) (citing
Pennhurst State Sch. & Hosp. v. Halderm&hil U.S. 1 (1981)). Accordingly, Moore has failed
to state a claim for violation of any statutory rights under 42 U.S.C. § 6010.



complaint that the plaintiff failed texhausthis administrativeeemedies.”Randle v. Alexander
960 F. Supp. 2d 457, 483 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).

Here, Moge’s Complaint alleges that he filed a grievance on November 17, 2017, and
attaches the grievance form as an exhibit. (Compl. at 10, 13.) Furthermore, irdaigtaffi
opposing the motion to dismiss, Moore attests that he has “filed various grievaaddsetss the
negligence by Department of Corrections staff . . . as well as the medicalastdfthat he has
“exhausted such grievance remedies by appealing [his] complaints to thg$ammmanding
officer . . . as well as. . [the]Central Offie Review Committee.” (Dkt. No. 44 at 1.)

On the basis of these allegations, the Court concludes that it is not apparent fiace the
of Moore’s submissions that lfeled toexhaust his administrative remediaad thus
Defendants’ exhaustion argumdails.

B. Claims Against Individual Defendants

Moore asserts that nine staff members and supervisors at OBCC weeeadelyb
indifferent to his medical needs in violation of Risurteenth Amendmenights® (Compl. at 2,
4-6.) Moore allegethat he hasufferedfrom two discrete medicassues aOBCC, whichthe
individual Defendants have unlawfully disregardemstfthe infliction of leg and lower back
pain caused by the absence of a cane and the delay in receiarigapedic shoe insert; and
seond,thefailure to properly administ his heart medication(Compl. at 7-11.)

The Eighth Amendment forbidsdeliberate indifference to serious medical needs of
prisoners.” Spavone v. New York State Dep’t of Corr. SeiRd9 F.3d 127, 138 (2d Cir. 2013)

(quotingEstelle 429 U.Sat104). Similarly, as relevant here, the Due Process Clause of the

6 Though the Complaint does not mention 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Court understands
Moore to be asserting claims under this provision for the deprivation of his constitugbis



Fourteenth Amendment prohibits deliberate indifference to the medical needsiaf pre
detainees in state custod@aiozzo v. Koremarb81 F.3d 63, 69 (2d Cir. 200®)yverruled on
other grounds by Darnell v. Pineir849 F.3d 17 (2d Cir. 2017).

Significantly, however, “not every lapse in medical care is a constitutiaaalgy
Salahuddin v. Goord167 F.3d 263, 279 (2d Cir. 2006)n order for an inmate to state a claim
of constitutional deprivation with regard to his access to medical care duringapetention,
the inmate must demonstrate thatrhsdicalneedswere objectively ‘sufficiently serious,” and
that the mdividual to be charged with the violation was aware of,dslitberatelyindifferentto,
those needs.Ceparano v. Suffolk Cnty. Dep’t of Heal485 F. App’x 505, 507 (2d Cir. 2012).
Moore must sufficiently allege both of these prongs in order fazlaisis against the individual
Defendants for deliberate indifference to medical needs to survive the motiomissdis

1. Leg and Back Pain

First, Moore asserthat the individual Defendants wedeliberatéy indifferert to theleg
and backpain caused byhe delay in providing hinwith anorthopedic shoe insert and
exacerbated by the deprivationto$ cane. (Compl. at 11.) Defendants respond that Moore has
not adequately pleaded either prong of the deliberate indifference stanttardspect to this
medicalissue. (Dkt. No. 40 at 6-7, 9-10.) The Court neecdddtessvhether Moore’s pain
and the delay in treatmewereobjectivelysufficiently seriousbecause Moore has failed to
adequately pleathat the individual Defendants were deliberately indifferent to his needs.

To satisfythis secondorongfor a claim of deliberate indifference to the needs of a
pretrial detainee under the Fourteenth Amendment—the “knowledge prongptaintiff must
plausibly allegé'that the defendant-official acted intentionally to impose the alleged eamdit
or recklessly failed to act with reasonable care to mitigate the risththaondition posed to the

pretrial detainee even though the defenddfitial knew, or should have known, that the



condition posed an excessive risk to health or safddarnell v. Pineirqg 849 F.3d 17, 35 (2d
Cir. 2017). And because Moore is asserting claims against all nine individual Defeimda
their individual capacitie€Comg. at 11), “the liability of each therefore depends on a showing
that he or she acted with deliberate indiffereneefnandez v. Kean@41 F.3d 137, 144 (2d

Cir. 2003).

Defendants argue that Moore has not adequately pleaded deliberate indifferendedo the
and back pain, because he has not adequately “alleged that anynaliviteial Defendants
knew, or should have known, of [his] medical conditions.” (Dkt. No. 40 at 9.) The Court agrees.

According to Moore, he complained “of the pain in [his] legs and lower back to the
doctors and medical staff” at OBCC. (Compl. at 7.) On September 6, 2017, his attorreey sent
letter to the “Warden” at OBCC, informing the Warden that Moore was expergpain due to
the lack of a cane or “shoe [ifand requeshg assistance with this issue. (Compl. at 14.)
Additionally, Moore filed a grievance on November 17, 2017, which specifically mentions
experiencing “extreme pain” in connection with the lackarie and “shoe lift.” (Compl. at 13.)
But according to Moore, Deputy Warden Vaz, Captain Robertson, and Warden Sauretrs fall
to investigatenis grievancer issue any response. (Compl. at 10.)

At no point in his Compliant or opposition affidavit, howewdes Moore allege that he
complainedirectlyto H&H Assistant Coordinatdfrazer or any of the Corrections Officer
Defendants about thmain, or the lack of cane or orthopedic insert. Nor does he allege any facts
that would allow the Court to infer that these individuals knew, or should have kaba his
condition and its severity. Accordingly, Moore has not adequately alleged that, Extioer
Dias, Officer JamesQfficer Raysor,Officer Morris, or Officer Williams wasdeliberately

indifferent to hismedicalneeds regarding theg and back pai



The allegeknowledge and indifference of Deputy Warden Vaz, Captain Robertson, and
Warden Saunders present a closer question. The Complaint alleges that thessosupervi
Defendantavere in receipt of the November 2017 grievance, and thus had constructive notice of
Moore’s leg and back pain. In assessing whether this notice is sufficietalbdish that these
individuals “knew, or should have known” about the pain Moore was suffering but “recklessly
failed to act,”"Darnell, 849 F.3d at 35t is helpful to consider the doctrine of personal
involvement.

“It is well settled in this Circuit that personal involvement of defendants in alleged
constitutional deprivations is a prerequisite to an award of damages under 8 38860 v.

City of New York579 F.3d 176, 184 (2d Cir. 2009)0 adequately pledtt] he personal
involvement of a supervisory defendaat the motion to dismiss stage, a plaintiff must plausibly
allegethat:

(1) the defendant participated directly in the alleged constitutiookitivn, (2)the

defendant, after being informed of the violation through a report or appeal, failed

to remedy the wrong, (3) the defendant created a policy or custom under which

unconstitutional practices occurred, or allowed the continuance of sucicyagol

custom, (4) the defendant was grossly negligent in supervising subordinates who

committed the wrongful acts, or (5) the defendant exhiledtheratandifference

to the rights of inmates by failing to act on information indicating that

unconstitubbnal acts were occurring.

Colon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 873 (2d Cir. 1995).

As the Second Circuit has recognized, the knowlguigeg of adetaineé&s disregard of
medical needs claim and the personal involvement inquiry can beelatet. Seelewisv.
Cunningham483 F. App’x 617, 619 (2d Cir. 201Hgernandez341 F.3cat 148 feasoing that
the fact that personal involvement could not be established GQodian for a defendant who

received—but did not personally investigate or act on—pris@revances supported the

conclusion that the defendamasnot “deliberately indiffereritto medical needs

10



And courts in this Circuit haveepeatedly held that “as a matter of law, a defendant’s
mere receipt of a letter or grievance, without personally tigaggg or acting [thereon], is
insufficient to establish personal involvemen&lvarado v. Westchester Ctg2 F. Supp. 3d
208, 215 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omiged)also
Goris v. Breslin402 F. App’x 582, 584 (2d Cir. 201@®pberts v. City of New YqrKo. 14 Civ.
5198, 2016 WL 4146135, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 2, 20I8)pmpson v. Pallitd949 F. Supp. 2d
558, 575 (D. Vt. 2013) (“The district courts of this circuit appear to be in unanimous agreement
that a supervisory official having received (and ignored) a letter from an iaftedeng
unconstitutional conduct does not, without more, give rise to personal involvement on the part of
that official.”).

Moreover,at leasthreecourts haveoncludedhatallegationghat defendantaere sent
a grievance complairrealoneinsufficient to establisboth the personal involvement of the
recipiens and the knowledge prong otlaliberatandifference claim SeeDawkins v.

Copeland No. 17 Civ. 9926, 2019 WL 1437049, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2019) (holding that
theallegation of defendants’ awareness ofcthallenged conduetdue tothe filing of a

grievance complaint that defendants ignored—"is insufficient to propertyeatiersonal
involvement and deliberate indifferenceThompson949 F. Supp. 2d at 579 (“Just as [being
senta complaint letteto which a defendant did not respond] does not establish [a defendant’s]
personal involvement, such a letter also cannot establish his deliberferende.”) Ward v.
Capra No. 16 Civ. 6533, 2018 WL 1578398, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2@1Bpintiff filling

out a grievance and appeal regarding the health care he was being provided dos$yr{thesat

knowledge prong of a deliberate indifference claijm]

11



As these courtBave explained, an allegation that a plaintifii€d a grievanceéis not the
same as alleging that any particular defemdeeceived or read his grievantand thus does not
establish that particular defendanksiéw or should have known abbptaintiff's medical
condition. Dawking 2019 WL 1437049, at *8. In other words, alleging that a defendant was
merely sent grievance does not plausibly establish that the defendeast fhade aware of and
intentionally disregarded a risk fplaintiff's] health.” Thompson949 F. Supp. 2dt579. And
because being sent a grievadoesnotgive rise todeliberate indifferencander the second or
fifth Colonfactors,see58 F.3dat 873, it also fails tosatisfy the knowledge prong of a deliberate
indifference claim.

The Court adopts the same reasoning herbaeréd/gplaintiff alleges that @articular
defendant’s involvement in an alleged constitutional deprivagitimited tobeing sena
grievance or letter-and does not allege that the defendant personally investigated or acted on
the grievance-those allegationarenot sufficient to establiskitherthe defendant’s persah
involvement odeliberate indifferenceo theplaintiff’'s medicalneeds.

In this caseMoore alleges thdte filed his November 2017 “grievanbg placing a copy
... in a ‘grievance box’ and the ‘wardens’ box,” but thaputy Warden Vaz and Captain
Robertson “failed to investigate [his] grievance,” and Vaz, Robertson, and Wadedess
“never responded to [him] in writing or person and have allowed” the neglect to continue.
(Compl. at 10. Moorefurther alleges that, of multiple grievances filbdttwere appealed to
Saunders, “[n]o response was ever received.” (Dkt. No. 44 at 1.)

Thegravamen of these allegatiosghatMoore submittedjyrievanceshatthe three

supervisors should haveceived butthat theydid not investigate astherwiserespond to his

12



submissions. As explained above, saltegations ar@nsufficient to establish either the
personal involvement or the deliberate indifference of Vaz, Robertson, and Saunders.

In conclusionMoore has failed to adequately plead khewledgeprong of hideg-and
backpainclaims against any of thedividual DefendantsThe claims asserted against the
individual Defendants for indifference to ey andbackpainare thus dismissed.

2. Heart M edication

Moore also alleges deliberatalifference to the proper administration of his heart
medication. (Compl. at 8.) The Court need not address whether this issumbjeatively
‘sufficiently serious,” however, because Moore has again failed to sufficiently atlejethe
Individual Defendants were “aware of, addliberatelyindifferentto,” the alleged issues
regarding the administration of his medicati@eparang 485 F. App’xat 507.

Defendants argue that Moore has not adequately pleaded deliberate indiffereace to th
missed heart medication, because he “does not allege that any of [the indDefealiiants
were aware or should have been aware [of] any risk of harm that results from thesed m
doses of medication,” or “acted recklessly disregarding” such risk. (Dkt. N¢.140)aThe
Court agreesandaddressebelow Moore’s allegations of deliberate indifference as to the
various groups of individual Defendants.

Moore alleges that the five Officer Defendants have failed to ensure that hedduisi
medicationon schedul@s prescribed, by either failing to bring him to the medical clinic or
failing to escort medical staff to Moore’s unit. (Compl. at 9.) But Moore does egeany
facts supporting the inference that these individuals “knew, or should have khawthe”
interruption in receiving his heart medication “posed an excessive risk to hesdttety”

Darnell, 849 F.3d at 35. The Complaint does not reference whether Moore complained to the

13



Officer Defendants about the disruption in receiving hisioeibn or told them of the risks
attendant to migxldoses. Moreover, Moore alleges that the disruptions to his medication
regimen occur when OBCC is on “lockdown” (Dkt. No. 44 at 1), suggesting that the failure to
ensure his receipt of medication is born out of disruptions to the operation of the &scdity
whole, rather than reckless indifference to Moore’s needs.

As for H&H Assistant Coordinator Frazer, Moore alleges that she “has not beatyact
supervising [the medical] staff,” resulting in disruptions to his receipt ofgagdn. (Compl. at
8.) But the Complaint does not adequately plead that Frazer knew, or should have known, about
Moore’s heart medication and the disruptions he experienced, or had any way of kinatving t
the disruptions posed an excessive risk to his health and yet recklessly faded to a

With respect to Deputy Warden Vaz and Captain Robertson, the Complaint alleges that
they were aware of the November 2017 grievance. (Compl. at 10.) But that geieeanment
does wt specifically reference any issues with the administration of Moorats hedication.
(SeeCompl. at 13.) And the Complaint contains no additional allegations regarding the
knowledge or reckless indifference of these supervisors as to the headtioadic

Finally, Moore alleges that Hdiled various grievances” regarding “the negligence by
Department of Corrections staff . . . at OBCC as well as the medicalwtaffi were appealed
to Warden Saunders. (Dkt. No. 44 at 1.) But Moore does noealegdetails about these other
“grievances,” such ashether they informed Saunders of the nature of the medication or the
severity of the risk to his health posed by the disruption in administration. And asexpl
above, the submission of a grievance alone is insufficient to establish personalneardloe

the knowledge prong ofdeliberate indifferencelaim.
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Ultimately, the Court concludes that Moore has not plausibly alleged thaff &mgy
individual Defendants were deliberately indifferent to the risks he faced fromnpineper
administration of hisieart medication. Accordingly, the claims against Frazticer Dias,
Officer Jamespfficer Raysor,Officer Morris, Officer Williams, Depulyy WardenVaz, Captain
Robertson, antarden Saunders are dismissed to the extent they are premised on deliberate
indifference tahe improper administration dloore’s heart medication.

C. Municipal Liability

Moore also asserts claims against the Cityld&él. (Compl. at 1.) In order to survive a
motion to dismiss on these clainMdpore musiproperly alleganunicipal liability. See Mejia v.
N.Y.C.Health & Hosps. Corp.No. 16 Civ. 9706, 2018 WL 3442977, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. July 17,
2018) (noting that H&HS subject to municipal liability as a public benefit corporation).

Significantly, however, “grerequisite to municipal liability und&tonellis an
underlying constitutional violation by a state actaRawking 2019 WL 1437049, at *8 (citation
omitted). Because Moore’s Complaint fails to statg/ @onstitutional deprivation by the
individual Defendants, hilonell claims against the City and H&H are dismissed.

V. Leaveto Amend

Under Second Circuit precedent, ]'f@o secomplaint should not [be] dismiss[ed]
without [the Court’s] granting leave to amend at least once when a liberalgeddhe
complaint gives any indication that a valid claim might be statBdfan v. Connolly 794 F.3d
290, 295 (2d Cir. 20)Halterations in original) (quotinGhavis 618 F.3dat 170). “[R]eading
the pro se complaint and opposition papers liberally” in this case, the Court “canriatieonc
that amendment would be futileltl. Accordingly, the Court grants Moore an oppoityito

amend the complaint, provided that he does so by July 26, 2019.
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V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasorthe City’'smotionto dismisss GRANTED.

Moore is directed to file an amended complaint by July 26, 2019. If Moore fails to do so
within the time allotted, andannot show good cause to excuse such fatliecase will be
closed

The Clerk of Court is directed to close the motion at Docket Number 39.

SO ORDERED.

Dated:June 26, 2019

New York, New York /%V,

V J. PAUL OETKEN
United States District Judge

COPY MAILED TO PRO SE PARBY CHAMBERS
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